# **Prospects for the String Axiverse**

Christopher Dessert,<sup>a</sup> Naomi Gendler,<sup>b</sup> Arthur Hebecker,<sup>c</sup> Joerg Jaeckel,<sup>c</sup> David J. E. Marsh,<sup>d</sup> Jakob Moritz,<sup>e</sup> Anirudh Prabhu,<sup>f</sup> Andreas Schachner,<sup>g</sup> Alexander Westphal<sup>h</sup>

 <sup>a</sup>Center for Computational Astrophysics, Flatiron Institute, New York, NY 10010, USA
 <sup>a</sup>Jefferson Physical Laboratory, Harvard University, Cambridge, MA 02138, USA
 <sup>a</sup>Institute for Theoretical Physics, Heidelberg University, Philosophenweg 19, 69120 Heidelberg, Germany
 <sup>a</sup>Physics Department, King's College London, Strand, London WC2R 2LS, UK
 <sup>a</sup>Department of Physics, University of Wisconsin-Madison 1150 University Avenue, Madison, WI 53706, USA
 <sup>a</sup>Princeton Center for Theoretical Science, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ 08544, USA
 <sup>a</sup>Arnold Sommerfeld Center for Theoretical Physics, Ludwig-Maximilian-University Munich, Theresienstr. 37, 80333 Munich, Germany
 <sup>a</sup>Department of Physics, Cornell University, Ithaca, NY 14853 USA

<sup>a</sup>Deutsches Elektronen-Synchrotron DESY, Notkestr. 85, 22607 Hamburg, Germany

#### Abstract

It has been more than 15 years since the "string axiverse" first came to prominence as a framework to explore the physics of the axion dark sector and its connection to string theory. In the intervening years, huge advances have been made in astrophysical and experimental searches for axions. In tandem, advances in computational geometry now permit explicit realisations of Calabi-Yau compatifications with hundreds of axions, and computation of the masses and interaction strengths. This report summarises the findings of a workshop devoted to the axiverse, held at the Banff International Research Station in January 2025. The report reviews key aspects of theory and phenomenology of axions, and identifies the key questions to pursue in the next decade of the axiverse.

## Contents

1	Exe	cutive Summary and Introduction	2
2	Axi	ons in String Theory	4
	2.1	Jakob Moritz: Axions in String Theory Review	4
	2.2	Andreas Schachner: Towards Fully Automated Pipelines for Exploring the	
		String Axiverse	6
		2.2.1 Auto-differentiation and optimisation in the string landscape	6
		2.2.2 The DNA of Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces and combinatorial cosmology	7
	2.3	Alexander Westphal: Discussion	8
	2.4	Arthur Hebecker: Outlook/Discussion	10
	2.5	Additional Contributions	11
3	Axion Phenomenology		11
	3.1	Joerg Jaeckel: Axions and ALPs Beyond Discovery	11
	3.2	David J. E. Marsh: Ultralight Axions in Astrophysics and Cosmology	12
		3.2.1 Introduction	12
		3.2.2 Some observational signatures	14
		3.2.3 Recent advances in reconstructing fuzzy structures	17
	3.3	Anirudh Prabhu and Christopher Dessert: Discussion	18
		3.3.1 Some Open Questions in Axiverse Phenomenology	18
		3.3.2 Phenomenology of Multiple Axions	18
		3.3.3 Coupling to Fermions	20
	3.4	Additional Contributions	20
4	Con	clusions	22

#### **1** Executive Summary and Introduction

The Standard Model of particle physics is incomplete: it does not explain the existence of dark matter or dark energy, and cannot accommodate a quantum theory of gravity. It is therefore certain that new physics beyond the current Standard Model must exist: finding a theory of and evidence for this new physics is one of the most important frontiers for modern physics.

A leading candidate for new physics, and in particular for a theory of dark matter, is the existence of one or more so-called axions or axion-like particles. The axion was originally proposed as a solution to the strong CP problem, which is the observation that the neutron electric dipole moment is many orders of magnitude smaller than what naive calculations in quantum field theory predict. The QCD axion solves this discrepancy by introducing a new field that can dynamically relax this dipole moment to zero.

The QCD axion, along with other axion-like particles (pseudoscalar fields) are also wellmotivated as dark matter candidates. Axions are naturally weakly coupled to Standard Model fields, and are equipped with a simple mechanism for populating the observed dark matter relic abundance through coherent oscillations in the early universe.

The landscape of ongoing and planned experiments searching for axions is vast: there are many observations that probe axion couplings to photons and other Standard Model fields, as well as very sensitive experiments that search for axions as ambient dark matter particles. The parameter space that is actively being explored is wide enough that the prospect of a positive signal in our lifetimes is realistic. Axions are one of the most promising candidates for a new physics discovery.

At the same time, the theoretical motivation for axions is extremely strong. The Standard Model cannot accommodate gravity as a quantum theory, and our leading candidate for a theory that encompasses both modern particle physics and gravity is string theory. A general key feature of solutions of string theory is the presence of a number of axions, often hundreds, ranging over many decades in mass [1-3]. This aspect of string theory solutions is known as the string axiverse [4]. The existence of the string axiverse provides strong motivation for axions, both as dark matter candidates and otherwise. Detection of key features of the axiverse would provide strong evidence for string theory as the theory that describes our universe. At the same time, understanding aspects and patterns of the string axiverse can provide insight into where to focus our experimental efforts.

Since the original proposal of the axiverse in 2009 our understanding of it has grown massively. The original proposal noted key observational signatures of birefringence, large scale structure clustering, black hole superradiance, and decaying heavy axions. Every one of these proposed signatures has been explored in significant depth in hundreds of publications. New features have been identified, in particular in large scale structure, thanks to pioneering breakthroughs in our ability to simulate axions in the non-linear regime [5]. From the phenomenology side, the most significant advances have been made in axion direct detection. In 2009, the field was led by ADMX, which in this year made its first science run with sensitivity to the QCD axion [6]. Now, there are dozens of axion experiments around the world probing a vast range of different particles masses. In tandem with this, the understanding of axions in string theory has also grown significantly. The original axiverse proposal used simple scaling arguments to predict a logarithmic distribution of masses, and estimated a decay constant in the range 10<sup>16</sup> GeV, based on understanding of string compactifications and moduli stabilisation in models with small numbers of axions and moduli. Since 2018, it has been possible to study the axiverse far more broadly, in particular with large ensembles of explicit constructions containing hundreds of axions and moduli [7]. It is now possible to explicitly compute the distribution of masses and decay constants. A key finding is that the decay constants can be much smaller, with the value being tied to control of the effective field theory and topological complexity. Thanks to all of these advances, it is now timely to bring this knowledge together, and plot a way forward for the next decade of the axiverse.

The workshop "Prospects for the String Axiverse," held at the Banff International Research Station in January 2025, was aimed at precisely strengthening the symbiotic relationship between efforts to detect axions experimentally and the program of analysing axion physics as an output of string theory. The event convened experts in axion phenomenology and detection, as well as in string theory and stringy axion physics. Talks were aimed across these divides, structured around being accessible for the wide range of backgrounds in the audience. A number of interactive sessions were held in which the prospects for axion detection and our ability to make string theoretic predictions for axion physics were discussed.

One of the biggest takeaways of the workshop was a crystallisation of the questions that string theorists and phenomenologists must work towards answering in the coming years in order to truly make contact with detection in a meaningful way. These questions include the following:

- What are the observational differences between "closed string/p-form axions" and "field theoretic/open-string/higher axions"?
- Is it possible to engineer a light QCD axion as such a field theoretic axion in string theory?
- Previous studies on the string axiverse have focused on axion physics at "generic" points in moduli space. How do explicit moduli stabilisation schemes affect axion physics? In other words, how does the distribution of axion observables compare between points in moduli space where scalar fields are all explicitly given a mass, versus randomly selected points?
- Given a collection of axion observables (such as axion-photon or axion-fermion couplings), how can one solve the "inverse problem" of estimating stringy UV parameters such as geometrical and topological data?
- What set of axion observations would serve as evidence for 10-dimensional string theory in the supergravity regime? What constitutes an observation of the axiverse?

- How can we efficiently explore predictions for axion physics across the landscape? What stringy features can robust machine learning algorithms probe, versus which structures can only be uncovered analytically? How do we efficiently encode string compactification data to predict axion properties in an ML usable way?
- What are the most promising experimental and observational probes in the next 10-20 years? Which observations directly shed light on our place in the string theory land-scape? Which experimental endeavors are most favored by string theory expectations?

In terms of specific observational probes, we believe the following are key future priorities:

- Astrophysical and direct detection probes of miniclusters. Can these be used to distinguish if the QCD axion is closed or open string (in typer IIB) and what does such a distinction tell us specifically?
- Searches for QCD axion dark matter. How does the QCD axion mass specifically locate us in the landscape? Are there more precise statements to be made from string theory on the theoretical expectation for QCD axion mass and couplings?
- Cosmological probes of axions. Signatures of ultralight axions seem confined to low Hodge numbers, birefringence seems correlated to the UV behaviour of electromagnetism. Can these links be made more precise, and how can other observable signatures of axions in cosmology be brought to similar level of understanding?
- How does the cosmology of axions in string theory relate to models of inflation and reheating, given various pressures for these phenomena to happen at lower scales than naive expectations?

The remainder of this report is structured as follows. In §2, we review several talks and discussions related to the broader topic of axions in string theory. We also summarise the remainder of the workshop contributions related to this theme. In §3, we provide analogous summaries for sessions related to the broader topic of axion phenomenology and detection prospects. In §4, we briefly conclude.

## 2 Axions in String Theory

## 2.1 Jakob Moritz: Axions in String Theory Review

Axions are ubiquitous in string theory, but their microscopic origins and features are diverse. A broad but useful classification of axions that arise in string theory is the following:

- 1. Open-string axions
- 2. Closed-string axions.

Open-string axions are open strings ending on spacetime-filling branes in the compactification manifold. These axions arise as phases of matter fields:

$$\Phi = |\Phi|e^{i\psi} \tag{2.1}$$

where  $\psi$  is the axion. This is completely analogous to the standard "field-theory" axions as originally envisioned in [].

Closed string axions, on the other hand, are closed strings propagating in the bulk of spacetime. These axions arise from the dimensional reduction of p-form field strengths in the ten dimensional theory. Schematically,

$$\theta = \int_{\Sigma^{(p)}} A_p \tag{2.2}$$

where  $A_p$  is a gauge field in the higher-dimensional theory, and  $\Sigma^{(p)}$  is a p - cycle in the compactification manifold. The number of approximately massless axions is given by the dimension of the *p*-th de Rham cohomology group of the compactification manifold, which can easily lie in the hundreds, e.g. for typical Calabi-Yau manifolds drawn from the Kreuzer-Skarke ensemble [8]. Moreover, the Chern-Simons action of D-branes [9, 10] leads precisely to the dimension five interaction with gluons that are required to solve the strong CP problem<sup>1</sup>, and the analogous interactions with photons through which axions are intensely searched for experimentally.

Closed-string axions are in some ways more appealing than the traditional "field-theoretic" axion constructions: they naturally come with a high quality Peccei-Quinn (PQ) symmetry<sup>2</sup> [2], and their decay constants often fall in the phenomenologically acceptable range [13, 14]. Furthermore, the fact that axions are a ubiquitous feature of string compactifications suggests that they may be important for understanding quantum gravity itself. Indeed, axions in string theory show striking apparently universal features such as sub-Planckian decay constants [15] which is closely related to the *weak gravity conjecture* [16]. Finally, a generic feature of string compactifications is a plethora of axion particles, the famous *string axiverse* [4], whose experimental verification would be striking evidence for string theory as *the* theory of quantum gravity.

Much progress has been made recently in understanding the detailed predictions of the string axiverse — often making direct contact between string constructions and experimental searches for axions, and cosmological and astrophysical constraints. Some highlights include 1) an assessment of the Peccei-Quinn quality problem in string compactifications [13], concluding that is absent in the generic many-axion case, 2) the explicit computation of axion-photon couplings in large ensembles of string compactifications in type IIB string theory [14] and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>It has been suggested that this is a consequence of the absence of global symmetries in quantum gravity [11]

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ In contrast, in field theoretic construction there is a tension between realising high PQ quality, and avoiding a domain wall problem [12]

heterotic string [17], 3) assessments of dark radiation from moduli decays to axions [18], 4) attempts to construct models of fuzzy dark matter in type IIB string theory [19, 20], and 5) the explorations of new corners of the string axiverse [21].

However, many fundamental questions remain unanswered. In particular, our understanding of moduli stabilisation in string compactifications in combination with realistic particle physics remains largely incomplete.<sup>3</sup> Yet, the intense ongoing and planned experimental efforts devoted to detecting the axion make it an urgent task for string theorists to provide realistic models of interactions between stringy axions and the visible sector!

## 2.2 Andreas Schachner: Towards Fully Automated Pipelines for Exploring the String Axiverse

In this section, we explore various computational aspects of the string axiverse. Specifically, we emphasise two key approaches: leveraging auto-differentiation to address optimisation challenges within the string axiverse and using stochastic optimisation to identify phenomeno-logically favoured compactification geometries.

#### 2.2.1 Auto-differenation and optimisation in the string landscape

In the string axiverse, optimising parameters such as axion masses, or couplings to match physical constraints often involves navigating highly complex functions derived from the interplay of string compactifications, moduli stabilisation, and cosmological evolution equations. A key computational challenge is the intricate, multi-scale nature of these problems, where the dependence of physical observables on underlying parameters is both highly involved and computationally expensive to evaluate. For instance, the dark matter (DM) relic density of an axion with decay constant  $f_a$  and mass  $10^{-28}$  eV  $\leq m_a \leq 10^{-15}$  eV produced by vacuum realignment [25–28] with initial misalignment angle  $\theta_a$  is

$$\Omega_a h^2 \approx 0.12 \,\theta_a^2 \left(\frac{m_a}{4.4 \cdot 10^{-19} \,\mathrm{eV}}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{f_a}{10^{16} \,\mathrm{GeV}}\right)^2 \,. \tag{2.3}$$

Provided that the parameters  $m_a$ ,  $f_a$ ,  $\theta_a$  are suitably large, such an axion may contribute a significant fraction to DM. In string compactifications, axion properties like  $m_a$ ,  $f_a$  depend on the values of moduli and thus the magnitude of  $\Omega_a h^2$  varies across moduli space.

Automatic differentiation (AD) is a powerful tool in this context which, unlike numerical differentiation (error-prone due to finite differences) or symbolic differentiation (impractical for large systems), uses the chain rule at the computational graph level to provide derivatives at machine precision. By allowing precise and efficient derivative calculations for relic densities  $\Omega_a h^2$  or moduli potentials, AD opens the door to systematically explore the parameter space of string compactifications. Such strategies have recently been employed in [20] to find string compactifications with large fuzzy relic abundance in models with up to seven axions.

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$ Recent progress on full moduli stabilisation include [22, 23] but do not feature realistic particle physics. In state-of-the-art standard model constructions such as [24] moduli stabilisation remains unaddressed.



**Figure 1**: Evolution of the distributions of decay constants for the lightest axion in each Calabi-Yau geometry colored by the GA generation. Figure taken from [33].

Indeed, through a suitable implementation of Eq. (2.3), AD enables the use of gradient-based optimisation algorithms to identify such regions in moduli space. In this way, [20] discovered models in which the lightest  $C_4$ -axion has an untuned misalignment abundance matching the observed value  $\Omega_a/\Omega_{\rm DM} = 1$ . Other related applications of AD involve stabilising moduli by minimising scalar potentials with a highly intricate dependence on fluxes and other compactification parameters. The use of AD allowed the authors of [29] to develop an efficient framework facilitating optimisation techniques that seek vacua with desired properties, such as realistic hierarchies of scales, see in particular [30–32] for applications.

In the long term, such computational approaches can play an essential role in making the axiverse more predictive and for uncovering connections between string theory and observable physics. By systematically exploring compactification choices, flux configurations, and stabilisation schemes, we can begin to connect low-energy physics to high-energy theory in a more predictive framework. This includes identifying axions that align with cosmological and astrophysical observations and exploring their implications for inflation.

## 2.2.2 The DNA of Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces and combinatorial cosmology

Typically, when investigating cosmological or astrophysical phenomena in string theory, we adopt a top-down approach. However, it can also be beneficial to examine the following inverse problem: given a four-dimensional effective field theory (EFT) with specific values for axion observables, such as axion-photon couplings  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$ , how can we determine suitable UV data within string theory?

Significant progress in this direction has recently been made in [33] through the application of stochastic search optimisation. Specifically, *Genetic Algorithms* (GAs) are utilised to explore the space of triangulations of four-dimensional reflexive polytopes  $\Delta^{\circ}$  [8] defining Calabi-Yau (CY) threefold hypersurfaces [34].<sup>4</sup> They are inspired by natural selection processes and perfectly suited to search fitness landscapes for optimal solutions by evolving a population of individuals, here representing different CY geometries. As a proof of concept, we would like to find EFTs obtained from CY compactifications of Type IIB string theory in which the lightest  $C_4$ -axion has a decay constant  $f_a \approx f_* = 10^{14}$  GeV. We show the evolution of decay constants  $f_a$  for a single GA run in Fig. 1. The distribution of  $f_a$  in each population quickly converges towards the target value  $f_* = 10^{14}$  GeV within only a few generations showing that GAs indeed learn general traits of the fittest configuration. Moreover, GAs surpass conventional methods like Markov Chain Monte Carlo and Simulated Annealing in efficiency [33]. In the future, such techniques allow us to explore the string axiverse globally for more diverse and phenomenologically rich targets.

## 2.3 Alexander Westphal: Discussion

Axions in string theory – or in short 'string axions' – come in two varieties. In both heterotic and type I/II string theories there exist Abelian p-form gauge fields at the 10-dimensional level. In geometric Kaluza-Klein (KK) string compactifications down to four dimensions, e.g. on Calabi-Yau (CY) manifolds, these p-form gauge fields generate KK zero modes on appropriate topologically non-trivial subspaces ('cycles') of the compact extra dimensions. These *p*-form KK zero modes constitute 4D pseudo-scalars with non-compact shift symmetries as non-linear realisations of the underlying gauge symmetry of the p-form gauge fields. As these p-forms arise from the NSNS and/or RR-sector of closed string theories, we call their associated 4D pseudo-scalars 'closed-string axions'. In theories with open strings such as type I/II string theories, open strings ending on D-branes generate both charged matter fields and SM-like gauge fields. As these charged matter fields can trigger spontaneous symmetry breaking of some of the U(1) gauge symmetries of the open string sector, the phases of some of the open string charged matter fields can acquire the properties of Peccei-Quinn like axions. Their couplings to the open string sector matter and gauge fields often show the structures typical for bottom-up Peccei-Quinn like field theory axions. Hence, these string axions are called 'open string axions' or sometimes 'field-theory-like axions'.

Open string axions have been less systematically explored in the extant literature. Hence, there is a clear need to study them more systematically, aiming for questions like:

- How field theory like are open string axions typically?
- How do their spectra of axion decay constants  $f_a$ , masses and matter, gauge field, and Chern-Simons couplings look like and distribute over the landscape of string vacua?
- Are the value ranges and structure of these couplings wide enough to accommodate all bottom-up Peccei-Quinn like EFT axion models, or do they restrict model space?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>As explained e.g. in [35], due to Wall's theorem [36], the homotopy type of such manifolds is determined by the induced triangulations on two-faces of  $\Delta^{\circ}$ . The chosen data encoding in [33] removes these redundancies building on algorithms developed in [37], allowing for faster and more efficient searches.

• A further important question is to determine how to discriminate a field-theory-like open string axion from closed string axions.

Conversely, for closed string axions some of these questions have been begun to be answered for  $C_4$ -axions arising in type IIB string theory vacua from CY orientifolds [13, 14, 19, 20, 38]. However, beyond this type IIB Calabi-Yau  $C_4$ -axiverse, there remains much to be explored. For instance, already in type IIB CY vacua we need a systematic construction and exploration of the axiverse of 2-forms  $B_2$ ,  $C_2$  on CY orientifolds with  $h_-^{1,1} > 0$ . Beyond type IIB, there is the  $B_2$ -axiverse of CY compactifications of the heterotic string (see [17] for an exploration of properties of the QCD axion candidate in 4D heterotic string compactifications), which is again largely unexplored. On an even wider scope, there is a clear motivation to look at the very large classes of string vacua arising on compact negatively curved spaces., which tend to produce axiverses with potentially very large numbers of 2- and 4-form axions.

Once we are given a certain type of string axiverse, we need to understand the resulting cosmological dynamics and signals much better. If an axiverse contains closed string axions, it seems to be a generic feature due to the topology of the compact extra dimensions, that all but a few of the closed string axions are 'dark states' which do not couple directly to the SM sector. We clearly need to understand both axion production and the potential signals, such as primordial gravitational wave (GW) emission or additional 'dark radiation' contributions measured by the  $\Delta N_{\text{eff}}$  of a 'cosmic axion background' of such a 'dark axiverse'. These depend on the production mechanisms:

- There is model-dependent production after inflation occurring via inflaton and/or modulus decay, cosmic string dynamics and non-perturbative phenomena such as preheating from parametric resonance and tachyonic preheating.
- There is also a universal production channel all axions with non-zero mass m < H during inflation will get produced by their quasi-de Sitter (dS) random walk quantum fluctuations. These generate a non-vanishing misalignment angle (the axions get displaced from their potential minimum and 'walk up the potential well'). This mechanism acts on all light pseudo/scalar degrees of freedom by virtue of the universality of gravity in GR.

For a string axiverse with high-scale  $f_a \sim 10^{16^{+1}_{-2}}$  GeV this implies that every axion heavier than fuzzy dark matter [39]  $m_a \gtrsim 10^{-19}$  eV will overclose the universe. Avenues for avoiding this problem include

- either anthropic tuning of the misalignment angle [40, 41] (which may get falsified in the future if DM were found to be non-axionic [42]),
- a very atypical axiverse mass spectrum with essentially an axion desert between  $m_a \sim 10^{-19}$  eV and the scale of inflation [19],
- or very low scale inflation (so that most axions would have  $m > H_{\text{inf.}}$  avoiding their production, as well as potential CMB isocurvature constraints [19]).

The last two options present clear opportunities for future work, as neither a search for such atypical axiverses nor good constructions of string models of low-scale inflation exist.

## 2.4 Arthur Hebecker: Outlook/Discussion

The logical structure of my presentation was strongly inspired by the review part of [18]. After a brief reminder of the basic definitions and the phenomenological requirements for the QCD axion, I emphasised that one may distinguish two different fundamental origins for this pseudoscalar:

One the one hand, its origin could be purely 4d field-theoretic, i.e. it could be the phase of a 4d complex scalar. In this case, a significant amount of model building is required to avoid the quality problem, which in general will be severe (see e.g. [43] for a classic reference and [44] for a recent example).

On the other hand, the axion could originate in higher-dimensional p-forms, integrated over a cycle of the compactification space [2, 3]. This is very natural in string theory and it can easily avoid the quality problem if the relevant cycle is large enough.

In this 'p-form axion' case, a rather general prediction is that the axion decay constant f obeys  $f \sim 1/\sqrt{\mathcal{V}}$ , where  $\mathcal{V}$  is the volume of the Calabi-Yau orientifold measured in 10d Planck units. The phenomenologically preferred regime of  $f \ll M_P$  than points towards compactifications with large volume, in particular the Large Volume Scenario (LVS).

Avoiding the overclosure of the Universe by axion dark matter and respecting the strong observational bounds on isocurvature perturbations imposes significant constraints on the volume and, crucially, on the scale of inflation:

$$\mathcal{V} \gtrsim 10^7$$
 ,  $H_I \lesssim 10^9 \,\text{GeV} \,/ \,\mathcal{V}^{5/24}$  . (2.4)

As a side remark, this deep LVS regime is well-known to suffer from a significant dark radiation problem [45, 46], which however can in many cases be very naturally overcome if the SUSY breaking scale is high [18].

The restriction to relatively low inflation scales is problematic in string constructions. The only one of the established models I am aware of that realises such a low scale without an excessive (and presumably not anthropically justifiable) fine-tuning is blow-up inflation [47]. But loop corrections unavoidably spoil this construction, turning it into loop blowup inflation [48], with very different pheno characteristics and, crucially, a much higher scale. Thus, a key open problem is to better understand and overcome the apparent clash between a string-axion resolution of the strong CP problem and stringy expectations for the scale of inflation.

Finally, while much progress has been reported on explicit string axion model building (see [13, 49] and subsequent work), the task of moduli stabilisation and uplifting to a de Sitter vacuum is not automatically resolved in these constructions. Since the leading stringy de Sitter models have recently come under considerable pressure (see e.g. [50–54]), this is a key problem: It is crucial to determine how the purely geometrical and statistical predictions

for the QCD axion will be affected once additional constraints imposed by realising de Sitter are properly taken into account.

## 2.5 Additional Contributions

Nicole Righi: String Axions: The Hot and the Fuzzy [summarised by N. Gendler] The central question is whethe string theory can accommodate models of fuzzy axion dark matter consistent with current bounds on fuzzy dark matter relic abundance. This talk presented two complementary approaches to studying this problem: first, by studying concrete examples of models with one or two axions and all Kähler moduli explicitly stabilised, and second, by scanning over models with up to 7 axions, carefully analysing the cosmological history, but ignoring the effects of moduli stabilisation. In the latter, it was discussed how to engineer a cosmology such that there exists a fuzzy dark matter candidate, while simultaneously not overproducing axion dark matter.

## 3 Axion Phenomenology

## 3.1 Joerg Jaeckel: Axions and ALPs Beyond Discovery

Axions [55–58] and more general axion-like particles (ALPs) [59, 60] typically feature  $1/f_a$  suppressed interactions with a range of Standard Model (SM) particles summarised in the effective Lagrangian, e.g. [61–63],

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} a)^2 + \frac{1}{2} m^2 a^2 + \frac{1}{4} g_{a\gamma\gamma} a (F^{\mu\nu})^2 + \frac{1}{2} g_{agg} a (G^{\mu\nu})^2 + \sum_f g_{aff} a \bar{f} \gamma^5 f.$$
(3.1)

In this equation a is the axion/ALP, F, G are the SM photons and gluons, and f the SM fermions. The coupling coefficients are related to the symmetries and particles in the underlying UV complete model. For example, for a QCD axion we have for the photon coupling and mass [64],

$$g_{a\gamma\gamma} = \frac{\alpha}{2\pi f_a} \left(\frac{E}{N} - 1.92(4)\right), \qquad 5.70(7)\mu \text{eV}\left(\frac{10^{12}\,\text{GeV}}{f_a}\right). \tag{3.2}$$

Here, E and N are the electromagnetic and gluon anomaly coefficients and the second term corresponds to the low energy QCD contribution and its uncertainty. The salient point is that measuring the photon coupling  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  and the mass would allow to determine both  $f_a$ and E/N. It therefore allows to glean information on the scale of spontaneous symmetry breaking  $f_a$  and some information on the particle content at this scale. Having information on additional couplings can then allow to gain more detailed information on the underlying model and/or to reduce assumptions such as the QCD axion nature. For example measuring the gluon coupling and checking whether it fits the predicted unique relation to the mass for a standard QCD axion, can answer whether we are indeed dealing with a QCD axion solving the strong CP problem. It is therefore of interest to see what information on the parameters in Eq. (3.1) can be obtained from experiments and observations. In the following we will discuss a few example cases that show that after a discovery more details may be learned from axion experiments.

Axion Couplings from Helioscopes: The International Axion Observatory (IAXO) [65, 66] uses the helioscope technique [67] to search for axions produced in the sun. By now the flux calculations as a function of the axion photon coupling are good enough to allow distinguishing [68] between different KSVZ [69, 70] models as well as excluding some of those simple models. Depending on the parameter region IAXO or a somewhat enhanced version of it would acquire enough data to determine both mass and coupling [68, 71, 72]. Indeed, it may even be possible to determine the electron coupling as well [71], making it possible to even more clearly delineate between KSVZ [69, 70] and DSFZ [73, 74] type models. This could give very interesting hints also for possible stringy realisations.

Axion Dark Matter, Density and Coupling: It is likely that a discovery of axions arises from an axion dark matter experiment, e.g. an axion haloscope [67], a dish antenna [75] or dielectric haloscope [76, 77]. Some examples of these types of experiments are ADMX [78, 79], BREAD [80], CAPP [81] and MADMAX [76] (more can be found in the nice compilation [82]). In this case there is a degeneracy between the local dark matter density  $\rho$ and the coupling g typically, signal  $\sim g^2 \rho$ . Resolving this degeneracy would allow to answer two crucial questions: 1) Have we discovered the dark matter or just a small fraction of it?<sup>5</sup> 2) The coupling again can give us model information.

Let us give two examples of potential ways to do this. One is to hope for the crossing of an axion minicluster through the haloscope [83]. In this case the spectral resolution of the haloscope may be sufficient to resolve the gravitational binding energy when crossing the cluster as a function of the location inside the cluster. Via the Poisson equation this gives direct information on the cluster density independent of the coupling to photons. The power then allows to determine the coupling [83]. Alternatively one could built an experiment independent of the coupling, e.g. a light-shining-through-walls experiment [84]. Information from the dark matter discovery measurements can significantly improve the feasibility of building a dedicated experiment [84].

To conclude. Beyond an initial discovery, axion experiments can often yield significant extra information that can help us better understand the cosmology as well as the detailed underlying, potentially stringy, fundamental model.

## 3.2 David J. E. Marsh: Ultralight Axions in Astrophysics and Cosmology

## 3.2.1 Introduction

If axions are ultralight, which for the purposes of this discussion we define as  $m_a \leq 10^{-18}$  eV, and production in the early Universe proceeds via the vacuum realignment mechanism, then

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>As an interesting speculation. If the density is high compared to the one expected from the estimated scale  $f_a$  (this could be inferred from the mass, Eq. (3.2)) one could take this as an indication for a post-inflationary scenario with a high contribution from axion strings.



Figure 2: Left panel: observational constraints and forecasts for fuzzy axions, compared to the predictions of a single model with  $h^{1,1} = 7$ , demonstrating the discovery potential of future missions. Right panel: mixed DM simulation for cold DM and a fuzzy axion with  $m_a \approx 10^{-24}$  eV composing 10% of the relic density. (Images reproduced from Refs. [20, 85])

the clustering of such a dark matter (DM) component is observationally distinguishable from standard cold DM. We refer to such DM as "fuzzy" (following Ref. [86]). Fuzzy DM is a collection of phenomena where wavelike effects manifest in astrophysics. It is a lamppost under which we can look for the ultralight axions predicted by string theory, and of which our understanding has progressed significantly in the last 15 years.

The consistency of (most) cosmic observables with the predictions of CDM leads to constraints on the allowed relic density,  $\Omega_a h^2 < 0.12$ . The precise limit is axion mass dependent, with different masses also being constrained by different observables. The basic physical principle that distinguishes such ultralight axions from CDM is the large de Broglie wavelength. Thus, heavier axions show differences to CDM on smaller length scales than lighter axions, since  $\lambda \propto 1/m_a$ . This in turn implies that lighter axions have tighter constraints on  $\Omega_a h^2$ than heavier ones do because (i) large, linear scales in cosmology are more well measured (ii) for a departure from CDM on large scales, more total modes k are affected compared to a departure on small scales.

If the axion decay constant is close to  $f_a = 10^{16}$  GeV, then the predicted relic abundance across the entire range  $10^{-33}$  eV  $\leq m_a \leq 10^{-18}$  eV turns out to be just outside present precision cosmology bounds [87–89], but just within reach of future surveys [90–92], offering an opportunity of discovery [4]. It was recently shown in Ref. [20] that models of fuzzy axion DM with large  $f_a$  in this discovery window can be found within explicit string theory compactifications on Calabi-Yau orientifold hypersurfaces in toric varieties [34] constructed from the Kreuzer-Skarke database [8], so long as the total number of axions (Hodge number  $h^{1,1}$ ) is relatively small,  $h^{1,1} \leq 10$ . Thus, the discovery prospects of cosmology are intimately linked to cohomology.

Existing observational limits (solid) and forecasts (dashed) are summarised in Fig. 2 (left panel), along with a particular model constructed in Ref. [20] with  $h^{1,1} = 7$  (black line

and shaded band). This demonstrates the possibility for discovery, as well as the ability for string models to explain the "Lyman- $\alpha$  tension" [93] (red contours). The journey from the ideas originally outlined in Ref. [4] to future discovery has been facilitated by increasingly detailed modelling and understanding of the effects of ULAs on cosmic structure. The next leap will be guided by numerical simulations, such as those shown in Fig. 2 (right panel), which incorporate wave effects inside the cosmic web in mixed DM models.

Ref. [20] considered axions arising from dimensional reduction of the four form field  $C_4$ from the closed string sector of type IIB string theory on Calabi-Yau orientifolds with  $h_-^{1,1} = 0$ , such that these are the only axions present. Such extra dimensional axions are by necessity in the "pre-inflation" cosmological scenario [94]. At generic points in moduli space, all the axions have comparable decay constants  $f_a$  (more precisely, they are log-normal distributed with  $\sigma \approx 1$  [95]). Thus, in a model with fuzzy axions, heavier axions will also contribute significantly to the relic density. In particular, the QCD axion (which is necessarily present in such models) with  $f_a = 10^{16}$  GeV requires a fine tuned initial misalignment angle in order not to produce too much DM. Minimising the overall fine tuning measure across all axions thus leads to the expectation that the DM has an almost equal mix of heavy, cold axions, along with a sub-leading fraction of the lighter fuzzy axions. Thus in the following we assume there to be a fuzzy axion with  $\Omega_a h^2 < 0.12$  and a CDM component composed of the QCD axion and any other heavier, stable axions with  $\Omega_c h^2 < 0.12$ , with the total  $\Omega_d h^2 = \Omega_c h^2 + \Omega_a h^2 = 0.12$ , and in general  $\Omega_a h^2 < \Omega_c h^2$ .

## 3.2.2 Some observational signatures

The earliest example of limiting the relative fraction of fuzzy DM to CDM using effects described here can be found in Ref. [96], and notable advances were made in Refs. [97, 98]. Cosmic observables are affected gravitationally by two distinct features of fuzzy DM. The first is encoded in the background expansion rate, and the second from the growth of structure. Coupling between fuzzy DM and electromagnetism induces additional effects.

The expansion rate and the CMB. The distinctive effect of fuzzy DM on the expansion rate is caused by the transition at  $t_{\rm osc}$ , when the energy density goes from being approximately constant with w = -1 (where  $w = P/\rho$  is the equation of state defined by the canonical energy momentum tensor) to behaving like DM with w = 0. The difference to CDM (w = const. = 0), a cosmological constant (w = const. = -1) or hot neutrinos (w = 1/3 transitioning to w = 0) makes the effect distinct to any component in  $\Lambda$ CDM. A change in w manifests in a change to the background expansion rate, which in turn impacts the CMB. A transition prior to decoupling manifests in a modified diffusion scale, affecting the heights of the CMB acoustic peaks (Silk damping). The transition also affects the time dependence of gravitational potentials (Sachs-Wolfe effect), which manifests dominantly in the large angle CMB for transitions occurring after decoupling. These effects were first described in detail in Ref. [98], and are the foundation of the strongest limits at low axion mass shown in Fig. 2 (left panel) [87]. These effects become negligible at very low mass,

 $m_a \lesssim 10^{-33}$  eV, where axions are indistinguishable from a cosmological constant <sup>6</sup>, and for masses with  $t_{\rm osc} \gg t_{\rm eq} \Rightarrow m_a \gtrsim 10^{-25}$  eV, where the effects on the expansion rate of all components with w < 1/3 become increasingly negligible.

The Jeans scale and the power spectrum. The scalar field Jeans scale [102] is caused by gradient energy in the linearised Klein-Gordon equation opposing the effective negative mass squared term induced by gravitational potentials. In the effective fluid equations, this manifests as a contest between the gravitational growing mode and pressure perturbations and has an intuitive interpretation in terms of the de Broglie wavelength. The effective fluid equation for sub-horizon density perturbations,  $\delta$ , in a scalar field DM dominated Universe takes the form:

$$\ddot{\delta} + 2H\dot{\delta} + (k^2c_s^2 - 4\pi G_N\bar{\rho})\delta = 0, \qquad (3.3)$$

where  $\bar{\rho}$  is the background density which satisfies the Friedmann equation and scales as  $a^{-3}$  with a the scale factor, and  $c_s^2 \approx k^2/m_a^2 a^2$  is the effective soundspeed arising from gradients in the Klein-Gordon equation in Fourier space (hence its scaling with  $k^2$ ). The Jeans scale is defined as the scale  $k_J$  for which the term in brackets multiplying  $\delta$  is equal to zero: modes with  $k < k_J$  undergo growth, while those with  $k > k_J$  oscillate and do not grown. Intuitively, scales above the de Broglie wavelength at approximately the Hubble flow appear particle-like and gravitationally cluster, while those below it are wavelike and (statistically) homogeneous.

The effect of the Jeans scale on cosmic observables can be seen in the matter power spectrum, P(k) (the Fourier transform of the matter overdensity two-point correlations). The power spectrum on large scales resembles CDM, but for k modes larger than the Jeans scale evaluated at matter radiation equality (the time when CDM perturbations begin fasterthan-logarithmic growth) the power spectrum has reduced amplitude [86]. The scale where suppression begins is determined by the axion mass  $m_a$  and scales like  $m_a^0.5$ , while the amplitude of suppression, S, relative to pure CDM at redshift zero increases with the axion relic density (see Refs. [4, 97, 103] for fits).

Estimators of the power spectrum are largely consistent with CDM. On the largest cosmic scales, the BOSS galaxy power spectrum measurements are complementary to and strengthen precision constraints derived from the CMB, while the EFT of large scale structure allows constraints to extend into the mildly non-linear regime up to  $m_a \approx 10^{-24}$  eV [87]. The high resolution XQ-100 Lyman-alpha forest flux power spectrum on very small scales and constrains the fraction in the heaviest fuzzy axions [89]. Suppressed clustering also leads to fewer DM halos relative to CDM [104]. Fewer DM halos at high-z leads to lower UV luminosity. Hubble space telescope measurements currently provide the best measurement of the high-z luminosity function and lead to precise constraints on fuzzy axions in an intermediate mass range [88].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>Recent reported evidence for dynamical dark energy by DESI can be interpreted as caused by an axion of mass  $\log_{10}(m_a/\text{eV}) = -32.6$  [99, 100]. The required decay constant,  $\log_{10}(f_a/M_{pl}) = -0.22$  appears too large to achieve in the string theory constructions of Ref. [20] with modestly large numbers of axions, and would be even more difficult with large numbers of axions. For discussion of quintessence and axions in string theory see e.g. Ref. [101].

**Birefringence.** We do not have space here to discuss all the myriad effects of axionmatter couplings. We focus on just one: isotropic birefringence, for which there are some observational hints [105, 106]. The axion photon coupling:

$$\mathcal{L} = -\frac{g}{4}\phi F_{\mu\nu}\tilde{F}^{\mu\nu}\,,\tag{3.4}$$

leads to a rotation of polarisation of light moving through a medium in which the axion field is changing in time, as if the vacuum were an active optical medium [107]. <sup>7</sup> The angle of rotation,  $\beta$  is given by the integral of  $g\phi$  along the line of sight. If the axion begins to roll only after the CMB is formed,  $m < H_{\rm CMB}$  then this integral is approximated by  $g\theta_i/f_a$  where  $\theta_i$  is the initial misalignment angle. If furthermore such an axion has an unsuppressed coupling to electromagnetism, i.e.  $g \approx \alpha/2\pi f_a$ , then the amount of rotation measured in radians is simply  $\beta \approx \theta_i \alpha/2\pi \approx 2 \times 10^{-3} \theta_i$ . The observational hint for this signal arises from E to B-mode polarisation rotation of the CMB anisotropies, and is of order the value predicted in the axion model. Unsuppressed couplings to electromagnetism arise for  $C_4$  axions in type IIB only if there is no unification (i.e. the Standard Model gauge group remains a product at the KK scale), and when  $\alpha(M_{\rm KK}) \approx 1/40$ , precisely the value expected in the Standard Model with high scale SUSY [14].

**Non-linearities.** In the non-relativistic regime axion DM is described by the classical mean field Schrödinger-Poisson equations, and thus departs from a pure CDM (collisionless Vlasov-Poisson) description at scales of order the de Broglie wavelength. Recent years have seen significant advances in simulating non-linear cosmic structure formation using these equations, rather than standard N-body methods (e.g Refs. [5, 109, 110]). Inside virialised DM halos, the axion field has a turbulent outer region and a coherent inner core. The core, also known as a soliton or axion star, is a distinct feature of scalar DM with a wide range of phenomenological consequences that can be used to limit the existence of, or search for, axions (e.g. Refs. [5, 111–119]). The turbulent region of the outer halo has an averaged density profile close to the CDM Navarro-Frenk-White [120] profile. The key property of the turbulent region is two-body relaxation caused by scattering of stellar (or other) tracers by the de Broglie sized transient "quasiparticles" caused by wave interference [39, 121].

Future work on understanding string axion models in the non-linear should focus on mixed DM simulations (as shown in Fig. 2, right) and on the inclusion of Active Galactic Nucleus (AGN) feedback. Understanding the mixed DM scenario in the non-linear regime and AGN feedback is needed to properly calibrate models for the power spectrum and extract precision constraints, particularly on small scales and at late cosmic times (see e.g. Refs. [122–124] for model calibrations in the absence of feedback).

Future observables that depend on such effects include small scale weak lensing from *Euclid* and CMB-HD, and the Ostriker-Vishniac effect in CMB secondaries. It is also an open question as to whether wavelike effects might be important in modifying existing or future

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>This effect, known as the Kerr rotation in condensed matter, was recently used to discover the "axion quasiparticle" in magnetic topological insulators [108].

constraints from the Lyman-alpha forest flux power spectrum (where axions are currently modeled using only the N-body approximation [89, 125]). As we can see in Fig. 2 and shown in detail in Ref. [20], the future observations will reach sensitivity to probe the predictions of the KS axiverse at low Hodge number, and a detection would place strict limits on our possible location in the landscape.

## 3.2.3 Recent advances in reconstructing fuzzy structures

This discussion closes with an account of two recent advances in which the author participated [126, 127]. Both allow for fuzzy DM wavefunction reconstruction in cosmic environments (either real or simulated) where the gravitational potential is known. The method builds on previous work of Refs. [128, 129] and solves the Schrödinger-Poisson equations self-consistently to arrive at the wavefunction given the potential. Compared to previous work, the numerical method is significantly faster, and the method has been deployed beyond spherical symmetry.

Utility: systems that cannot be simulated with current methods. Current cosmological simulations of pure fuzzy DM are not able to reach the resolution to simulate the Milky Way and its satellite galaxy population at large fuzzy DM masses (recently a Milky Way sized halo was simulated in a pure DM model for  $m_a = 2 \times 10^{-23}$  eV) [130]). Wave function reconstruction of consistent halos in Ref. [126] allows study of systems that cannot currently be resolved in full cosmological simulations. Application of this method to mixed DM models to set limits on the fuzzy DM fraction from dwarf galaxies is underway. Other applications of this method could be to provide initial conditions for simulations of the Milky Way halo for direct detection, or formation of tidal streams and their perturbation by subhalos.

Utility: "painting" existing CDM simulations. Most large scale cosmic simulations, especially those incorporating the most advanced gas physics for example, are rightly performed for CDM, which is reasonable since it is established that the dominant form of DM on cosmic scales is effectively cold. However, this limits what can be said precisely about DM physics beyond CDM and for sub-components. It is possible that the interference patterns constructed in Ref. [127] could be "painted on" to CDM-only simulations in certain instances (perhaps evolving for a short period with full fuzzy, cold, and gas dynamics to monitor stability). This may allow for new searches for fuzzy DM with large surveys, where the interplay of data and simulation can be highly important.

Utility: new physics insights. Ref. [127] provided the first semi-analytical insight into the nature of wave interference in cosmic filaments, as visible in Fig. 2, and a striking feature of fuzzy DM simulations since the pioneering work of Schive et al [5]. This new understanding allowed the identification of the distinct feature of filament interference patterns in the power spectrum, constructed following a generalisation of the halo model for large scale structure. The insight in terms of the physics of filament interference could be likened to the insight of Ref. [39] into the heating effect of halo interference on stellar populations. This physical imprint of interference may allow for new searches for fuzzy DM using filament surveys [131], and move from limit setting to discovery.

#### 3.3 Anirudh Prabhu and Christopher Dessert: Discussion

#### 3.3.1 Some Open Questions in Axiverse Phenomenology

The ongoing program of axion direct (laboratory) and indirect (astrophysical) detection is poised to provide powerful constraints on axiverse constructions, as first proposed in [4]. The approach to axion detection relies heavily on the expected coupling between the axion sector and the Standard Model (SM). Even the minimal scenario, in which axions couple only gravitationally to the SM, possesses rich phenomenology such as black hole superradiance [132].

Another phenomenological entry point is the axion-photon coupling. For the QCD axion, the following axion-photon coupling arises from the chiral anomaly in the presence of fermions charged under both the QED and QCD gauge groups,

$$\mathcal{L} \supset -\frac{1}{4} g_{a\gamma\gamma} a(x) F_{\mu\nu} \tilde{F}^{\mu\nu}, \quad g_{a\gamma\gamma} = \frac{\alpha_{\rm EM}}{2\pi f_a} \left(\frac{E}{N} - 1.92\right), \tag{3.5}$$

where  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  is the axion-photon coupling constant, a(x) is the axion field with corresponding decay constant  $f_a$ ,  $F_{\mu\nu}$  is the electromagnetic tensor,  $\tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} = \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\alpha\beta}F_{\alpha\beta}/2$  is its dual ( $\varepsilon$  is the Levi-Civita symbol),  $\alpha_{\rm EM}$  is the electromagnetic fine-structure constant, and E and N are the QED and QCD anomaly coefficients, respectively. For the QCD axion, there is a defined relationship between the axion mass and decay constant,  $m_a f_a \sim \Lambda_{\rm QCD}^2$ .

In string theory, couplings like (3.5) arise in low-energy effective field theories of axions that arise from the compactification of *p*-forms on Calabi-Yau manifolds. Axion-photon couplings were computed for a large number of compactifications in type IIB String Theory, and span a wide range [14]. Therefore, the common phenomenological approach is to derive model-independent constraints by treating  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  and  $m_a$  as independent free parameters.

Fig. 3 shows the current status of axion searches overlaid with axiverse predictions. Constraints in the figure fall into one of two categories: those that rely on axions making up dark matter (DM) and those that are agnostic to the relationship between axions and DM. Note that for large Hodge number  $h_{1,1}$  compactifications, axions with masses  $m_a \gtrsim \text{keV}$  may be readily observable through their decays to two photons, even if they are only produced via freeze-in [133]. Axiverse axions may have additional decay channels to lighter axions and to dark gauge groups so that the electromagnetic decay signatures are weaker than anticipated. Overproduction of DM through *e.g.* misalignment in the axiverse is, however, a generic concern.

#### 3.3.2 Phenomenology of Multiple Axions

A key question for future phenomenological studies is how the single-axion constraints in Fig. 3 are modified in the presence of multiple axions. Current approaches to axion detection typically derive phenomenological consequences assuming a single axion, treated in a model-independent manner by allowing its mass and photon coupling to vary as free parameters. When extended to an axiverse with multiple axions, existing constraints are often applied to

a single linear combination of axions. An experiment which is searching for an axiverse with  $h_{1,1}$  individual axions  $\phi_i$  and photon couplings  $g_{\gamma,i}$  is sensitive to the effective single-axion coupling

$$g_{a\gamma\gamma}^{\text{eff}} = \left(\sum_{i} g_{\gamma,i}^2\right)^{1/2}$$

where the sum runs over any axions which are able to participate in the interaction, *e.g.* due to kinematic restrictions. However, this is merely the statement that each individual axion state has some interaction with the SM. On the other hand, the presence of multiple axions can fundamentally alter single-axion phenomenology, as highlighted by the examples below.

For instance, as discussed in [134, 135], the theory above can be rotated into the electromagnetic basis, where only a single axion couples directly to electromagnetism,  $a_{\gamma} = \sum_i g_{\gamma,i} \phi_i / g_{a\gamma\gamma}^{\text{eff}}$ . In this basis, the theory acquires an additional mixing term,  $\propto M_{ij} \phi^i \phi^j$ , which couples different axion mass states. This mixing allows the electromagnetic axion, once produced, to oscillate into electromagnetically sterile states, thereby weakening detection probabilities at experiments which require multiple axion interactions, such as CAST and IAXO. Constraints from these helioscopes are reduced by a factor ~ 3  $(h_{1,1}/30)^{1/4}$ . However, competitive limits from stellar cooling and other single-conversion probes are unaffected by mass mixing.

In the single-axion scenario, natural cosmological production mechanisms, such as the vacuum misalignment mechanism, are able to produce axions in the correct abundance to explain DM. The dynamics of axion DM can be significantly modified in an axiverse with dense mass spacing. For example, axions sharing a joint potential can resonantly exchange energy, which allows the misalignment-produced axion to dump energy into an axion with similar mass, but very different coupling, which can have significant implications for axion DM direct detection experiments [136], including substantial structure on small scales [137]. In general, QCD axion mass mixing with a sterile species can deform DM abundance expectations from standard misalignment [138, 139]. For example, Ref. [140] present an analytical study of the cosmological evolution of multi-axion systems due to adiabatic and non-adiabatic resonant conversion from one axion state into another during the misalignment process using the Landau-Zener formalism.

A qualitatively different production mechanism for axions arises in the 'post-inflationary' scenario, which involves the formation of axion strings. Open- and closed-string realisations of this scenario were constructed in [141, 142], and could lead to small-scale structure consistent with that of a 4D field-theory QCD axion whose PQ scale is below the reheating temperature  $T_{\rm RH}$ .

Early-universe production mechanisms of axions as dark radiation are also modified. Each dimension-5 axion-SM operator will freeze-in one particular linear combination of the  $\phi_i$  (e.g.  $a_{\gamma}$  for the axion-electromagnetic operator), while dimension-6 operators freeze-in every axion state under generic assumptions. For sufficiently high  $T_{\rm RH}$ ,  $N_{\rm eff}$  may be vastly overproduced [143]. Existing ACT data allows only 6 axions to ever have been in thermal equilibrium with the SM, severely constraining the possible couplings of axions to the SM.

A systematic re-evaluation of axion constraints across different compactifications is therefore necessary to properly account for these effects.

## 3.3.3 Coupling to Fermions

Low energy axion effective field theories are expected to contain axion couplings to SM fermion fields of the form

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \frac{c_{ij}^A}{2f_a} (\partial_\mu a) \bar{f}_i \gamma^\mu \gamma_5 f_j + \frac{c_{ij}^V}{2f_a} (\partial_\mu a) \bar{f}_i \gamma^\mu f_j, \qquad (3.6)$$

where  $f_i$  is a fermion field of generation *i*, and  $c_{ij}^A(c_{ij}^V)$  is a dimensionless coupling constant to the axial (vector) current between generation *i* and *j*. Note that flavor-conserving vector couplings  $c_{ii}^V$  have no physical effects.

Many astrophysical constraints shown in Fig. 3 are on the combination of  $|g_{aff} \times g_{a\gamma\gamma}|$ , where  $g_{aff} \equiv c_f/f_a$  is a flavor-conserving coupling. Translating such probes to constraints on  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  requires making model-dependent assumptions on the expected size of  $c_f$ . For instance, in DFSZ-type QCD axion models,  $c_f \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$ , whereas in KSVZ-type models the fermion coupling is generated radiatively by gauge field loops, giving rise to suppressed couplings (see, e.g., [64]). General arguments relying on supersymmetry suggest that in the case of extra-dimensional axions, the fermion coupling is one-loop suppressed [38, 94, 144, 145].

We are unaware of any works discussing the prospects for detecting an axiverse through flavor-violating (FV) couplings to fermions. FV processes in the SM are loop-, Yukawa-, or GIM-suppressed, while the axions may couple to FV at tree-level, so FV can be a powerful probe of axion physics. Indeed, assuming natural values of Wilson coefficients  $c \sim O(1)$ , searches for FV decays to missing energy provide leading constraints on the (single) axion decay constant [146],  $f_a \gtrsim 10^{12}$  GeV.

However, a comprehensive compilation of fermion couplings for extra-dimensional axions, similar to [14], has yet to be assembled. Such a compilation is essential for refining our search for axions through their interactions with fermions.

#### 3.4 Additional Contributions

Gray Rybka: Detecting Axions [summarised by D. J. E. Marsh]. Axion DM in string theory naively can span the whole range of conceivable DM particle masses, for example from the lowest fuzzy DM range,  $10^{-22}$  eV up to more SUSY-inspired masses of TeV or more. However, focusing on the QCD axion restricts the range to the neV to meV range predicted by decay constants in the range  $10^{16}$  GeV to  $10^{10}$  GeV, correlated string model properties as in Ref. [147]. The interaction Lagrangian is [148]:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm int} = -\frac{1}{4}g_{a\gamma\gamma}aF_{\mu\nu}\tilde{F}^{\mu\nu} - \frac{i}{2}g_da\sigma^{\mu\nu}\bar{N}\gamma_5NF_{\mu\nu} + g_{aNN}(\partial_{\mu}a)\bar{N}\gamma^{\mu}\gamma_5N + g_{aee}(\partial_{\mu}a)\bar{e}\gamma^{\mu}\gamma_5e \,. \tag{3.7}$$

The first operator provides a clean experimental target with mature experiments in existence ripe for application of quantum sensors, while the other operators are promising, with experiments under development. Focusing on the coupling  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$ , we can consider the whole range of probes reviewed at [82]. There is presently a program in place [149] to search the entire QCD axion parameter space. Near term experiments in the US include ADMX [79] and DMRadio [150], with a future generation of experiments in a research phase.

For axion dark matter direct detection, the key distinct feature is to model axions as a macroscopically occupied wave,  $a = a_0 \sin \omega_a t$ , using the language of power, frequency, and so on familiar from radio technology. The lineshape of the axion in frequency space,  $\omega$ , is determined by the halo model of the Milky Way (e.g. Refs. [151, 152]). For detection schemes, it is important to consider, within the context of this model, the Compton, de Broglie, and coherence timescles relative to the size of the apparatus and the measurement times accessible. For haloscopes like ADMX (based on the haloscope principle of Sikivie [67]) and DMRadio (based on the circuit principle of Ref. [153]), the signal via  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  can be undertsood via the modification to Maxwell's equations, considering the axion DM field as a source of effective charge/current density.

ADMX operates as a cavity whose resonant frequency is tuned using mechanical motion of rods inside. Axion detection is typically sought using the  $TM_{010}$  mode, with quality factor  $Q \approx 10^4$  leading to signal power of order a yocto Watt. Frequencies are tuned every 100 seconds, which sets the minimum value of the coupling constant  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$  that can be probed given the noise in the experiment operating at mK temperatures. Details of the design and operation can be found in Ref. [154] (details of analysis for the related HAYSTAC experiment are in Ref. [155]).

Experiments like ADMX aim principally to reach the QCD axion field theory benchmarks of KSVZ and DFSZ coupling strengths,  $g_{a\gamma\gamma} = \mathcal{O}(1)\alpha/2\pi f_a$ , assuming the axion is all of the local DM. However, there is a long term goal to eventually revisit frequencies reached at DFSZ sensitivity (the lower value of the coupling) and rescan to lower fractions of the local DM density (historically, this was done returning to frequencies excluded at KSVZ sensitivity). This may be motivated by the existence of miniclusters, which reduce the local density to some 10% of its average value [156], or more broadly by the landscape of models for mixed DM and lower couplings in string theory and field theory, and uncertainties in the halo model that are not marginalised over. However, the present priority is to scan wide, since constraints on the coupling scale like the fourth root of the integration time. There are theory motivations in the "post-inflation" scenario to search at higher QCD axion masses [157], but this is not the generic expectation for "extra dimensional" axions (such as those descending from  $C_4$ ) [94]: addressing this scenario within string theory was identified as an important issue.<sup>8</sup>

Cliff Burgess: A Dark Horse for the Dark Sector (Naturally) [summarised by D. J. E. Marsh] This contribution explored ideas from Refs. [158–165] about the value of the cosmological constant and the existence of dynamical dark energy from the UV perspective, in particular focusing on the axion-dilaton two-field system.

In addition to these, Masha Baryakhtar (University of Wahington) presented "Pi in the Sky: Compact Objects and Exceptionally Light QCD Axions.", and Joshua Foster (Fermilab) presented about axion direct and indirect detection.

## 4 Conclusions

The workshop "Prospects for the String Axiverse," held at the Banff International Research Station in January 2025, was a successful conglomeration of experts on axions, string theory, and axions in string theory. The review talks presented comprehensive overviews of the state of the art in axion effective theories arising from string compactifications, as well as in axion phenomenology and detection prospects.

The research talks similarly provided stimulating updates on progress in string theory and phenomenological aspects of axions. On the string theory side, we heard from leaders in the field on using machine learning techniques to more efficiently probe axion physics across the string landscape, as well as on progress in constructing realistic cosmological scenarios involving axions in string theory. On the phenomenological side, we had research talks about fuzzy dark matter as axions, as well as about light scalars from an effective field theory point of view.

A crucial aspect of the workshop was the existence of discussion sessions, both involving the entire set of workshop participants, as well as in smaller breakout groups. The full-group discussions focused on the pressing questions about axions that string theorists should tackle and the prospects for using detection methods to differentiate between different types of axions.

The smaller group breakout sessions focused on narrower, more technical topics involving axions and the string axiverse. Group leaders posed specific questions that the groups were able to make meaningful progress on in the allotted sessions. Breakout session topics included "quantisation of axion couplings," "From Polytopes to Lagrangians: Computing Explicit Stringy Axion EFTs," and "Cosmology of Stringy Axions."

In the last decade, we have simultaneously seen an enormous amount of progress in understanding the physics of axions from string compactifications, and in experimental and observational prospects for detecting axions. The time is therefore right for utilising these two approaches to axion phenomenology in tandem and asking how the fields can inform and reinforce one another. This is precisely the task that "Prospects for the String Axiverse" set out to accomplish. In a week of lectures and discussions, progress towards this goal is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>This discussion was motivated by comments from Matt Reece.

now well underway. This workshop marks the start of a fruitful relationship between the more theoretical and observational axion communities, and will hopefully culminate with the world's next detection of physics beyond the Standard Model.

#### References

- [1] E. Witten, Some Properties of O(32) Superstrings, Phys. Lett. B 149 (1984) 351–356.
- [2] P. Svrcek and E. Witten, Axions In String Theory, JHEP 06 (2006) 051, [hep-th/0605206].
- J. P. Conlon, The QCD axion and moduli stabilisation, JHEP 05 (2006) 078, [hep-th/0602233].
- [4] A. Arvanitaki, S. Dimopoulos, S. Dubovsky, N. Kaloper, and J. March-Russell, String Axiverse, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 123530, [arXiv:0905.4720].
- [5] H.-Y. Schive, T. Chiueh, and T. Broadhurst, Cosmic Structure as the Quantum Interference of a Coherent Dark Wave, Nature Phys. 10 (2014) 496–499, [arXiv:1406.6586].
- [6] ADMX Collaboration, S. J. Asztalos et al., A SQUID-based microwave cavity search for dark-matter axions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 104 (2010) 041301, [arXiv:0910.5914].
- [7] M. Demirtas, C. Long, L. McAllister, and M. Stillman, *The Kreuzer-Skarke Axiverse*, *JHEP* 04 (2020) 138, [arXiv:1808.01282].
- [8] M. Kreuzer and H. Skarke, Complete classification of reflexive polyhedra in four-dimensions, Adv. Theor. Math. Phys. 4 (2000) 1209–1230, [hep-th/0002240].
- M. B. Green, J. A. Harvey, and G. W. Moore, *I-brane inflow and anomalous couplings on d-branes, Class. Quant. Grav.* 14 (1997) 47–52, [hep-th/9605033].
- [10] Y.-K. E. Cheung and Z. Yin, Anomalies, branes, and currents, Nucl. Phys. B 517 (1998) 69-91, [hep-th/9710206].
- [11] D. Aloni, E. García-Valdecasas, M. Reece, and M. Suzuki, Spontaneously broken (-1)-form U(1) symmetries, SciPost Phys. 17 (2024), no. 2 031, [arXiv:2402.00117].
- [12] Q. Lu, M. Reece, and Z. Sun, The quality/cosmology tension for a post-inflation QCD axion, JHEP 07 (2024) 227, [arXiv:2312.07650].
- [13] M. Demirtas, N. Gendler, C. Long, L. McAllister, and J. Moritz, PQ axiverse, JHEP 06 (2023) 092, [arXiv:2112.04503].
- [14] N. Gendler, D. J. E. Marsh, L. McAllister, and J. Moritz, *Glimmers from the axiverse*, JCAP 09 (2024) 071, [arXiv:2309.13145].
- [15] T. Banks, M. Dine, P. J. Fox, and E. Gorbatov, On the possibility of large axion decay constants, JCAP 06 (2003) 001, [hep-th/0303252].
- [16] N. Arkani-Hamed, L. Motl, A. Nicolis, and C. Vafa, The String landscape, black holes and gravity as the weakest force, JHEP 06 (2007) 060, [hep-th/0601001].
- [17] P. Agrawal, M. Nee, and M. Reig, Axion couplings in heterotic string theory, JHEP 02 (2025) 188, [arXiv:2410.03820].
- [18] M. Cicoli, A. Hebecker, J. Jaeckel, and M. Wittner, Axions in string theory slaying the Hydra of dark radiation, JHEP 09 (2022) 198, [arXiv:2203.08833].

- [19] M. Cicoli, V. Guidetti, N. Righi, and A. Westphal, Fuzzy Dark Matter candidates from string theory, JHEP 05 (2022) 107, [arXiv:2110.02964].
- [20] E. Sheridan, F. Carta, N. Gendler, M. Jain, D. J. E. Marsh, L. McAllister, N. Righi, K. K. Rogers, and A. Schachner, *Fuzzy Axions and Associated Relics*, arXiv:2412.12012.
- [21] A. Hebecker, S. Leonhardt, J. Moritz, and A. Westphal, Thraxions: Ultralight Throat Axions, JHEP 04 (2019) 158, [arXiv:1812.03999].
- [22] M. Demirtas, M. Kim, L. McAllister, J. Moritz, and A. Rios-Tascon, Small cosmological constants in string theory, JHEP 12 (2021) 136, [arXiv:2107.09064].
- [23] L. McAllister, J. Moritz, R. Nally, and A. Schachner, Candidate de Sitter Vacua, arXiv:2406.13751.
- [24] M. Cvetič, J. Halverson, L. Lin, M. Liu, and J. Tian, Quadrillion F-Theory Compactifications with the Exact Chiral Spectrum of the Standard Model, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019), no. 10 101601, [arXiv:1903.00009].
- [25] J. Preskill, M. B. Wise, and F. Wilczek, Cosmology of the invisible axion, Physics Letters B 120 (Jan., 1983) 127–132.
- [26] L. F. Abbott and P. Sikivie, A cosmological bound on the invisible axion, Physics Letters B 120 (Jan., 1983) 133–136.
- [27] M. Dine and W. Fischler, The Not So Harmless Axion, Phys. Lett. B 120 (1983) 137–141.
- [28] M. S. Turner, Coherent Scalar Field Oscillations in an Expanding Universe, Phys. Rev. D 28 (1983) 1243.
- [29] A. Dubey, S. Krippendorf, and A. Schachner, JAXVacua a framework for sampling string vacua, JHEP 12 (2023) 146, [arXiv:2306.06160].
- [30] J. Ebelt, S. Krippendorf, and A. Schachner, W0\_sample = np.random.normal(0,1)?, Phys. Lett. B 855 (2024) 138786, [arXiv:2307.15749].
- [31] S. Krippendorf and A. Schachner, New non-supersymmetric flux vacua in string theory, JHEP 12 (2023) 145, [arXiv:2308.15525].
- [32] A. Chauhan, M. Cicoli, S. Krippendorf, A. Maharana, P. Piantadosi, and A. Schachner, Deep observations of the Type IIB flux landscape, arXiv:2501.03984.
- [33] N. MacFadden, A. Schachner, and E. Sheridan, *The DNA of Calabi-Yau Hypersurfaces*, arXiv:2405.08871.
- [34] V. V. Batyrev, Dual polyhedra and mirror symmetry for Calabi-Yau hypersurfaces in toric varieties, J. Alg. Geom. 3 (1994) 493-545, [alg-geom/9310003].
- [35] M. Demirtas, L. McAllister, and A. Rios-Tascon, Bounding the Kreuzer-Skarke Landscape, Fortsch. Phys. 68 (2020) 2000086, [arXiv:2008.01730].
- [36] C. T. C. Wall, Classification problems in differential topology. v, Inventiones Mathematicae 1 (1966), no. 4 355–374.
- [37] N. MacFadden, Efficient Algorithm for Generating Homotopy Inequivalent Calabi-Yaus, arXiv:2309.10855.

- [38] M. Cicoli, M. Goodsell, and A. Ringwald, The type IIB string axiverse and its low-energy phenomenology, JHEP 10 (2012) 146, [arXiv:1206.0819].
- [39] L. Hui, J. P. Ostriker, S. Tremaine, and E. Witten, Ultralight scalars as cosmological dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017), no. 4 043541, [arXiv:1610.08297].
- [40] B. Freivogel, Anthropic Explanation of the Dark Matter Abundance, JCAP 03 (2010) 021, [arXiv:0810.0703].
- [41] P. Arias, D. Cadamuro, M. Goodsell, J. Jaeckel, J. Redondo, and A. Ringwald, WISPy Cold Dark Matter, JCAP 06 (2012) 013, [arXiv:1201.5902].
- [42] N. Kaloper and A. Westphal, Falsifying anthropics, JCAP 12 (2024) 017, [arXiv:2404.02993].
- [43] M. Kamionkowski and J. March-Russell, Planck scale physics and the Peccei-Quinn mechanism, Phys. Lett. B 282 (1992) 137–141, [hep-th/9202003].
- [44] K. S. Babu, B. Dutta, and R. N. Mohapatra, Accidental Peccei-Quinn Symmetry From Gauged U(1) and a High Quality Axion, arXiv:2412.21157.
- [45] M. Cicoli, J. P. Conlon, and F. Quevedo, Dark radiation in LARGE volume models, Phys. Rev. D 87 (2013), no. 4 043520, [arXiv:1208.3562].
- [46] T. Higaki and F. Takahashi, Dark Radiation and Dark Matter in Large Volume Compactifications, JHEP 11 (2012) 125, [arXiv:1208.3563].
- [47] J. P. Conlon and F. Quevedo, Kahler moduli inflation, JHEP 01 (2006) 146, [hep-th/0509012].
- [48] S. Bansal, L. Brunelli, M. Cicoli, A. Hebecker, and R. Kuespert, Loop blow-up inflation, JHEP 07 (2024) 289, [arXiv:2403.04831].
- [49] I. Broeckel, M. Cicoli, A. Maharana, K. Singh, and K. Sinha, Moduli stabilisation and the statistics of axion physics in the landscape, JHEP 08 (2021) 059, [arXiv:2105.02889].
  [Addendum: JHEP 01, 191 (2022)].
- [50] F. Carta, J. Moritz, and A. Westphal, Gaugino condensation and small uplifts in KKLT, JHEP 08 (2019) 141, [arXiv:1902.01412].
- [51] X. Gao, A. Hebecker, and D. Junghans, Control issues of KKLT, Fortsch. Phys. 68 (2020) 2000089, [arXiv:2009.03914].
- [52] D. Junghans, LVS de Sitter vacua are probably in the swampland, Nucl. Phys. B 990 (2023) 116179, [arXiv:2201.03572].
- [53] X. Gao, A. Hebecker, S. Schreyer, and V. Venken, The LVS parametric tadpole constraint, JHEP 07 (2022) 056, [arXiv:2202.04087].
- [54] A. Hebecker, S. Schreyer, and V. Venken, Curvature corrections to KPV: do we need deep throats?, JHEP 10 (2022) 166, [arXiv:2208.02826].
- [55] R. D. Peccei and H. R. Quinn, CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 38 (1977) 1440–1443.
- [56] R. D. Peccei and H. R. Quinn, Constraints Imposed by CP Conservation in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. D 16 (1977) 1791–1797.
- [57] S. Weinberg, A New Light Boson?, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 223–226.

- [58] F. Wilczek, Problem of Strong P and T Invariance in the Presence of Instantons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 40 (1978) 279–282.
- [59] A. Ringwald, Seminar at the University of Zurich, 1, 2006.
- [60] J. Jaeckel, E. Masso, J. Redondo, A. Ringwald, and F. Takahashi, We need lab experiments to look for axion-like particles, in 41st Rencontres de Moriond: Workshop on Cosmology: Contents and Structures of the Universe, pp. 307–310, 5, 2006. hep-ph/0605313.
- [61] J. Jaeckel and A. Ringwald, The Low-Energy Frontier of Particle Physics, Ann. Rev. Nucl. Part. Sci. 60 (2010) 405–437, [arXiv:1002.0329].
- [62] J. Beacham et al., Physics Beyond Colliders at CERN: Beyond the Standard Model Working Group Report, J. Phys. G 47 (2020), no. 1 010501, [arXiv:1901.09966].
- [63] L. Di Luzio, M. Giannotti, E. Nardi, and L. Visinelli, The landscape of QCD axion models, Phys. Rept. 870 (2020) 1–117, [arXiv:2003.01100].
- [64] G. Grilli di Cortona, E. Hardy, J. Pardo Vega, and G. Villadoro, The QCD axion, precisely, JHEP 01 (2016) 034, [arXiv:1511.02867].
- [65] E. Armengaud et al., Conceptual Design of the International Axion Observatory (IAXO), JINST 9 (2014) T05002, [arXiv:1401.3233].
- [66] IAXO Collaboration, E. Armengaud et al., Physics potential of the International Axion Observatory (IAXO), JCAP 06 (2019) 047, [arXiv:1904.09155].
- [67] P. Sikivie, Experimental Tests of the Invisible Axion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 51 (1983) 1415–1417.
  [Erratum: Phys.Rev.Lett. 52, 695 (1984)].
- [68] S. Hoof, J. Jaeckel, and L. J. Thormaehlen, Quantifying uncertainties in the solar axion flux and their impact on determining axion model parameters, JCAP 09 (2021) 006, [arXiv:2101.08789].
- [69] J. E. Kim, Weak Interaction Singlet and Strong CP Invariance, Phys. Rev. Lett. 43 (1979) 103.
- [70] M. A. Shifman, A. I. Vainshtein, and V. I. Zakharov, Can Confinement Ensure Natural CP Invariance of Strong Interactions?, Nucl. Phys. B 166 (1980) 493–506.
- [71] J. Jaeckel and L. J. Thormaehlen, Distinguishing Axion Models with IAXO, JCAP 03 (2019) 039, [arXiv:1811.09278].
- [72] T. Dafni, C. A. J. O'Hare, B. Lakić, J. Galán, F. J. Iguaz, I. G. Irastorza, K. Jakovčic, G. Luzón, J. Redondo, and E. Ruiz Chóliz, Weighing the solar axion, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019), no. 3 035037, [arXiv:1811.09290].
- [73] A. R. Zhitnitsky, On Possible Suppression of the Axion Hadron Interactions. (In Russian), Sov. J. Nucl. Phys. 31 (1980) 260.
- [74] M. Dine, W. Fischler, and M. Srednicki, A Simple Solution to the Strong CP Problem with a Harmless Axion, Phys. Lett. B 104 (1981) 199–202.
- [75] D. Horns, J. Jaeckel, A. Lindner, A. Lobanov, J. Redondo, and A. Ringwald, Searching for WISPy Cold Dark Matter with a Dish Antenna, JCAP 04 (2013) 016, [arXiv:1212.2970].
- [76] MADMAX Working Group Collaboration, A. Caldwell, G. Dvali, B. Majorovits, A. Millar, G. Raffelt, J. Redondo, O. Reimann, F. Simon, and F. Steffen, *Dielectric*

Haloscopes: A New Way to Detect Axion Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 118 (2017), no. 9 091801, [arXiv:1611.05865].

- [77] J. Jaeckel and J. Redondo, Resonant to broadband searches for cold dark matter consisting of weakly interacting slim particles, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013), no. 11 115002, [arXiv:1308.1103].
- [78] ADMX Collaboration, C. Hagmann et al., Results from a high sensitivity search for cosmic axions, Phys. Rev. Lett. 80 (1998) 2043–2046, [astro-ph/9801286].
- [79] ADMX Collaboration, A. T. Hipp et al., Search for non-virialized axions with 3.3-4.2 μeV mass at selected resolving powers, arXiv:2410.09203.
- [80] BREAD Collaboration, J. Liu et al., Broadband Solenoidal Haloscope for Terahertz Axion Detection, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022), no. 13 131801, [arXiv:2111.12103].
- [81] Y. K. Semertzidis et al., Axion Dark Matter Research with IBS/CAPP, arXiv:1910.11591.
- [82] C. O'Hare, "cajohare/axionlimits: Axionlimits." https://cajohare.github.io/AxionLimits/, July, 2020.
- [83] V. Dandoy, J. Jaeckel, and V. Montoya, Using axion miniclusters to disentangle the axion-photon coupling and the dark matter density, JCAP 05 (2024) 035, [arXiv:2307.11871].
- [84] S. Hoof, J. Jaeckel, and G. Lucente, Ultimate light-shining-through-a-wall experiments to establish QCD axions as the dominant form of dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 111 (2025), no. 1 015003, [arXiv:2407.04772].
- [85] A. Laguë, B. Schwabe, R. Hložek, D. J. E. Marsh, and K. K. Rogers, Cosmological simulations of mixed ultralight dark matter, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024), no. 4 043507, [arXiv:2310.20000].
- [86] W. Hu, R. Barkana, and A. Gruzinov, Cold and fuzzy dark matter, Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 (2000) 1158-1161, [astro-ph/0003365].
- [87] K. K. Rogers, R. Hložek, A. Laguë, M. M. Ivanov, O. H. E. Philcox, G. Cabass, K. Akitsu, and D. J. E. Marsh, Ultra-light axions and the S<sub>8</sub> tension: joint constraints from the cosmic microwave background and galaxy clustering, JCAP 06 (2023) 023, [arXiv:2301.08361].
- [88] H. Winch, K. K. Rogers, R. Hložek, and D. J. E. Marsh, High-redshift, Small-scale Tests of Ultralight Axion Dark Matter Using Hubble and Webb Galaxy UV Luminosities, Astrophys. J. 976 (2024), no. 1 40, [arXiv:2404.11071].
- [89] T. Kobayashi, R. Murgia, A. De Simone, V. Iršič, and M. Viel, Lyman-α constraints on ultralight scalar dark matter: Implications for the early and late universe, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017), no. 12 123514, [arXiv:1708.00015].
- [90] C. Dvorkin et al., Dark Matter Physics from the CMB-S4 Experiment, in Snowmass 2021, 3, 2022. arXiv:2203.07064.
- [91] G. S. Farren, D. Grin, A. H. Jaffe, R. Hložek, and D. J. E. Marsh, Ultralight axions and the kinetic Sunyaev-Zel'dovich effect, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022), no. 6 063513, [arXiv:2109.13268].
- [92] D. Grin, M. A. Amin, V. Gluscevic, R. Hlŏzek, D. J. E. Marsh, V. Poulin, C. Prescod-Weinstein, and T. L. Smith, *Gravitational probes of ultra-light axions*, Bull. Am. Astron. Soc. 51 (2019), no. 3 567, [arXiv:1904.09003].

- [93] K. K. Rogers and V. Poulin, 5σ tension between Planck cosmic microwave background and eBOSS Lyman-alpha forest and constraints on physics beyond ΛCDM, Phys. Rev. Res. 7 (2025), no. 1 L012018, [arXiv:2311.16377].
- [94] M. Reece, Extra-Dimensional Axion Expectations, arXiv:2406.08543.
- [95] V. M. Mehta, M. Demirtas, C. Long, D. J. E. Marsh, L. McAllister, and M. J. Stott, Superradiance in string theory, JCAP 07 (2021) 033, [arXiv:2103.06812].
- [96] J. A. Frieman, C. T. Hill, A. Stebbins, and I. Waga, Cosmology with ultralight pseudo Nambu-Goldstone bosons, Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 (1995) 2077–2080, [astro-ph/9505060].
- [97] L. Amendola and R. Barbieri, Dark matter from an ultra-light pseudo-Goldsone-boson, Phys. Lett. B 642 (2006) 192–196, [hep-ph/0509257].
- [98] R. Hlozek, D. Grin, D. J. E. Marsh, and P. G. Ferreira, A search for ultralight axions using precision cosmological data, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015), no. 10 103512, [arXiv:1410.2896].
- [99] DESI Collaboration, M. Abdul Karim et al., DESI DR2 Results II: Measurements of Baryon Acoustic Oscillations and Cosmological Constraints, arXiv:2503.14738.
- [100] DESI Collaboration, L. A. Ureña López et al., Updated cosmological constraints on axion dark energy with DESI, arXiv:2503.20178.
- [101] M. Cicoli, F. Cunillera, A. Padilla, and F. G. Pedro, Quintessence and the Swampland: The Numerically Controlled Regime of Moduli Space, Fortsch. Phys. 70 (2022), no. 4 2200008, [arXiv:2112.10783].
- [102] M. Y. Khlopov, B. A. Malomed, I. B. Zeldovich, and Y. B. Zeldovich, Gravitational instability of scalar fields and formation of primordial black holes, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 215 (1985), no. 4 575–589.
- [103] D. J. E. Marsh and P. G. Ferreira, Ultra-Light Scalar Fields and the Growth of Structure in the Universe, Phys. Rev. D 82 (2010) 103528, [arXiv:1009.3501].
- [104] D. J. E. Marsh and J. Silk, A Model For Halo Formation With Axion Mixed Dark Matter, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 437 (2014), no. 3 2652–2663, [arXiv:1307.1705].
- [105] Y. Minami and E. Komatsu, New Extraction of the Cosmic Birefringence from the Planck 2018 Polarization Data, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020), no. 22 221301, [arXiv:2011.11254].
- [106] P. Diego-Palazuelos et al., Cosmic Birefringence from the Planck Data Release 4, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022), no. 9 091302, [arXiv:2201.07682].
- [107] S. M. Carroll, G. B. Field, and R. Jackiw, Limits on a Lorentz and Parity Violating Modification of Electrodynamics, Phys. Rev. D 41 (1990) 1231.
- [108] J.-X. Qiu, B. Ghosh, J. Schütte-Engel, T. Qian, M. Smith, Y.-T. Yao, J. Ahn, Y.-F. Liu, A. Gao, C. Tzschaschel, et al., Observation of the axion quasiparticle in 2d mnbi2te4, Nature (2025) 1–8.
- [109] J. Veltmaat, J. C. Niemeyer, and B. Schwabe, Formation and structure of ultralight bosonic dark matter halos, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018), no. 4 043509, [arXiv:1804.09647].
- [110] P. Mocz et al., First star-forming structures in fuzzy cosmic filaments, Phys. Rev. Lett. 123 (2019), no. 14 141301, [arXiv:1910.01653].

- [111] M. Escudero, C. K. Pooni, M. Fairbairn, D. Blas, X. Du, and D. J. E. Marsh, Axion star explosions: A new source for axion indirect detection, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024), no. 4 043018, [arXiv:2302.10206].
- [112] X. Du, D. J. E. Marsh, M. Escudero, A. Benson, D. Blas, C. K. Pooni, and M. Fairbairn, Soliton merger rates and enhanced axion dark matter decay, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024), no. 4 043019, [arXiv:2301.09769].
- [113] L. Chung-Jukko, E. A. Lim, and D. J. E. Marsh, Multimessenger signals from compact axion star mergers, Phys. Rev. D 110 (2024), no. 6 063506, [arXiv:2403.03774].
- [114] M. Safarzadeh and D. N. Spergel, Ultra-light Dark Matter is Incompatible with the Milky Way's Dwarf Satellites, arXiv: 1906.11848.
- [115] S. J. Witte, S. Baum, M. Lawson, M. C. D. Marsh, A. J. Millar, and G. Salinas, *Transient radio lines from axion miniclusters and axion stars*, *Phys. Rev. D* 107 (2023), no. 6 063013, [arXiv:2212.08079].
- [116] D. G. Levkov, A. G. Panin, and I. I. Tkachev, *Radio-emission of axion stars*, *Phys. Rev. D* 102 (2020), no. 2 023501, [arXiv:2004.05179].
- [117] P. J. Fox, N. Weiner, and H. Xiao, Recurrent axion stars collapse with dark radiation emission and their cosmological constraints, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023), no. 9 095043, [arXiv:2302.00685].
- [118] D. J. E. Marsh and A.-R. Pop, Axion dark matter, solitons and the cusp-core problem, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 451 (2015), no. 3 2479–2492, [arXiv:1502.03456].
- [119] L. Teodori, A. Caputo, and K. Blum, Ultra-Light Dark Matter Simulations and Stellar Dynamics: Tension in Dwarf Galaxies for  $m < 5 \times 10^{-21}$  eV, arXiv:2501.07631.
- [120] J. F. Navarro, C. S. Frenk, and S. D. M. White, A Universal density profile from hierarchical clustering, Astrophys. J. 490 (1997) 493–508, [astro-ph/9611107].
- [121] J. C. Niemeyer, Small-scale structure of fuzzy and axion-like dark matter, arXiv:1912.07064.
- [122] S. M. L. Vogt, D. J. E. Marsh, and A. Laguë, Improved mixed dark matter halo model for ultralight axions, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023), no. 6 063526, [arXiv:2209.13445].
- [123] T. Dome, S. May, A. Laguë, D. J. E. Marsh, S. Johnston, S. Bose, A. Tocher, and A. Fialkov, Improved halo model calibrations for mixed dark matter models of ultralight axions, Mon. Not. Roy. Astron. Soc. 537 (2025), no. 1 252–271, [arXiv:2409.11469].
- [124] D. Fremstad and H. A. Winther, Emulating the Non-Linear Matter Power-Spectrum in Mixed Axion Dark Matter Models, arXiv:2503.07277.
- [125] K. K. Rogers and H. V. Peiris, Strong Bound on Canonical Ultralight Axion Dark Matter from the Lyman-Alpha Forest, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021), no. 7 071302, [arXiv:2007.12705].
- [126] T. Zimmermann, J. Alvey, D. J. E. Marsh, M. Fairbairn, and J. I. Read, Dwarf galaxies imply dark matter is heavier than 2.2 × 10<sup>-21</sup> eV, arXiv:2405.20374.
- [127] T. Zimmermann, D. J. E. Marsh, K. K. Rogers, H. A. Winther, and S. Shen, Interference in Fuzzy Dark Matter Filaments: Idealised Models and Statistics, arXiv:2412.10829.
- [128] S.-C. Lin, H.-Y. Schive, S.-K. Wong, and T. Chiueh, Self-consistent construction of virialized wave dark matter halos, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018), no. 10 103523, [arXiv:1801.02320].

- [129] T. D. Yavetz, X. Li, and L. Hui, Construction of wave dark matter halos: Numerical algorithm and analytical constraints, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022), no. 2 023512, [arXiv:2109.06125].
- [130] H. Y. J. Chan, H.-Y. Schive, V. H. Robles, A. Kunkel, G.-M. Su, and P.-Y. Liao, Cosmological zoom-in simulation of fuzzy dark matter down to z = 0: tidal evolution of subhaloes in a Milky Way-sized halo, arXiv:2504.10387.
- [131] ACT, DES Collaboration, M. Lokken et al., Superclustering with the Atacama Cosmology Telescope and Dark Energy Survey. II. Anisotropic Large-scale Coherence in Hot Gas, Galaxies, and Dark Matter, Astrophys. J. 982 (2025), no. 2 186, [arXiv:2409.04535].
- [132] A. Arvanitaki and S. Dubovsky, Exploring the String Axiverse with Precision Black Hole Physics, Phys. Rev. D 83 (2011) 044026, [arXiv:1004.3558].
- [133] K. Langhoff, N. J. Outmezguine, and N. L. Rodd, Irreducible Axion Background, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022), no. 24 241101, [arXiv:2209.06216].
- [134] F. Chadha-Day, Axion-like particle oscillations, JCAP 01 (2022), no. 01 013, [arXiv:2107.12813].
- [135] F. Chadha-Day, J. Maxwell, and J. Turner, ALP anarchy, JCAP 09 (2024) 056, [arXiv:2311.13658].
- [136] D. Cyncynates, T. Giurgica-Tiron, O. Simon, and J. O. Thompson, Resonant nonlinear pairs in the axiverse and their late-time direct and astrophysical signatures, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022), no. 5 055005, [arXiv:2109.09755].
- [137] D. Cyncynates, O. Simon, J. O. Thompson, and Z. J. Weiner, Nonperturbative structure in coupled axion sectors and implications for direct detection, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022), no. 8 083503, [arXiv:2208.05501].
- [138] D. Cyncynates and J. O. Thompson, Heavy QCD axion dark matter from avoided level crossing, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023), no. 9 L091703, [arXiv:2306.04678].
- [139] B. Gavela, P. Quílez, and M. Ramos, The QCD axion sum rule, JHEP 04 (2024) 056, [arXiv:2305.15465].
- [140] D. I. Dunsky, C. Andrea Manzari, P. Quílez, M. Ramos, and P. Sørensen, Resonant Landau-Zener Conversion In Multi-Axion Systems (to appear), .
- [141] R. Petrossian-Byrne and G. Villadoro, Open String Axiverse, arXiv: 2503.16387.
- [142] J. N. Benabou, Q. Bonnefoy, M. Buschmann, S. Kumar, and B. R. Safdi, Cosmological dynamics of string theory axion strings, Phys. Rev. D 110 (2024), no. 3 035021, [arXiv:2312.08425].
- [143] C. Dessert, S. Kumar, and J. T. Ruderman, "Freezing-in the Axiverse (to appear)."
- [144] K. Choi, S. H. Im, H. J. Kim, and H. Seong, Precision axion physics with running axion couplings, JHEP 08 (2021) 058, [arXiv:2106.05816].
- [145] K. Choi and N. Righi, Axion theory and model building, PoS COSMICWISPers (2024) 039, [arXiv:2401.17354].
- [146] D. Guadagnoli, A. Iohner, C. Lazzeroni, D. Martinez Santos, J. C. Swallow, and C. Toni, New bound on the vectorial axion-down-strange coupling from  $K^+ \to \pi^+ \nu \bar{\nu}$  data, arXiv:2503.05865.

- [147] N. Gendler and D. J. E. Marsh, Possible Implications of QCD Axion Dark Matter Constraints from Helioscopes and Haloscopes for the String Theory Landscape, Phys. Rev. Lett. 134 (2025), no. 8 081602, [arXiv:2407.07143].
- [148] P. W. Graham and S. Rajendran, New Observables for Direct Detection of Axion Dark Matter, Phys. Rev. D 88 (2013) 035023, [arXiv:1306.6088].
- [149] C. B. Adams et al., Axion Dark Matter, in Snowmass 2021, 3, 2022. arXiv: 2203.14923.
- [150] DMRadio Collaboration, L. Brouwer et al., Proposal for a definitive search for GUT-scale QCD axions, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022), no. 11 112003, [arXiv:2203.11246].
- [151] C. A. J. O'Hare and A. M. Green, Axion astronomy with microwave cavity experiments, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017), no. 6 063017, [arXiv:1701.03118].
- [152] J. W. Foster, N. L. Rodd, and B. R. Safdi, Revealing the Dark Matter Halo with Axion Direct Detection, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018), no. 12 123006, [arXiv:1711.10489].
- [153] Y. Kahn, B. R. Safdi, and J. Thaler, Broadband and Resonant Approaches to Axion Dark Matter Detection, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016), no. 14 141801, [arXiv:1602.01086].
- [154] ADMX Collaboration, R. Khatiwada et al., Axion Dark Matter Experiment: Detailed design and operations, Rev. Sci. Instrum. 92 (2021), no. 12 124502, [arXiv:2010.00169].
- [155] B. M. Brubaker, L. Zhong, S. K. Lamoreaux, K. W. Lehnert, and K. A. van Bibber, HAYSTAC axion search analysis procedure, Phys. Rev. D 96 (2017), no. 12 123008, [arXiv:1706.08388].
- [156] C. A. J. O'Hare, G. Pierobon, and J. Redondo, Axion Minicluster Streams in the Solar Neighborhood, Phys. Rev. Lett. 133 (2024), no. 8 081001, [arXiv:2311.17367].
- [157] K. Saikawa, J. Redondo, A. Vaquero, and M. Kaltschmidt, Spectrum of global string networks and the axion dark matter mass, JCAP 10 (2024) 043, [arXiv:2401.17253].
- [158] C. P. Burgess and F. Quevedo, Who's Afraid of the Supersymmetric Dark? The Standard Model vs Low-Energy Supergravity, Fortsch. Phys. 70 (2022), no. 7-8 2200077, [arXiv:2110.13275].
- [159] C. P. Burgess, D. Dineen, and F. Quevedo, Yoga Dark Energy: natural relaxation and other dark implications of a supersymmetric gravity sector, JCAP 03 (2022), no. 03 064, [arXiv:2111.07286].
- [160] C. P. Burgess and F. Quevedo, RG-induced modulus stabilization: perturbative de Sitter vacua and improved D3-D3 inflation, JHEP 06 (2022) 167, [arXiv:2202.05344].
- [161] C. P. Burgess, F. Muia, and F. Quevedo, 4D de Sitter from String Theory via 6D Supergravity, arXiv:2408.03852.
- [162] P. Brax, C. P. Burgess, and F. Quevedo, Light axiodilatons: matter couplings, weak-scale completions and long-distance tests of gravity, JCAP 08 (2023) 011, [arXiv:2212.14870].
- [163] P. Brax, C. P. Burgess, and F. Quevedo, Axio-Chameleons: a novel string-friendly multi-field screening mechanism, JCAP 03 (2024) 015, [arXiv:2310.02092].
- [164] A. Smith, M. Mylova, P. Brax, C. van de Bruck, C. P. Burgess, and A.-C. Davis, CMB implications of multi-field axio-dilaton cosmology, JCAP 12 (2024) 058, [arXiv:2408.10820].

[165] A. Smith, M. Mylova, P. Brax, C. van de Bruck, C. P. Burgess, and A.-C. Davis, A Minimal Axio-dilaton Dark Sector, arXiv:2410.11099.



**Figure 3**: Distribution of axion masses and axion photon coupling,  $g_{a\gamma\gamma}$ , for different  $h^{1,1}$ . Also shown are single-axion laboratory, astrophysical, and cosmological constraints. Laboratory (astrophysical) constraints assuming axions make up all of dark matter are shown in blue (light gray), and laboratory (astrophysical) constraints that are independent of the axion's contribution to the dark matter abundance are shown in dark red (green).